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Milestones in the Brunei Church History

⚫ 1325 - Odoric of Pordenone - first 
missionary to come to the island of 
Borneo 

⚫ 1587 – Two Spanish Franciscan 
missionaries called into Brunei – 
Francesco de Santa Maria and 
Miguel de Talavera.



1688 - Theatine Priest, 

Fr. Antonio Ventimiglia 

arrived in Borneo and 

became the first Vicar 

Apostolic.





⚫ 1855 – Brunei became part of the Apostolic Prefecture of Labuan and 

North Borneo  

⚫ 1858 – Barambangan mission – Fr. Riva of the Milan Foreign 

Missionaries (now known as PIME) was put in charge – he built a 

church and dedicated it to Our Lady of Every Grace

⚫ 1881 – Mill Hill Missionaries in Labuan

⚫ 1915 (24th Aug.) – First recorded baptism of a Bruneian, baptism done 

in Labuan, Lucia Liew, by Fr. A. Williams, MHM. 



1858 - Our Lady of Every Grace



⚫ 1919 (5th March) – First 
recorded baptism in Brunei by 
Fr. A. Williams of Francis Newn. 

⚫ 1927 – Brunei became part of 
the Apostolic Prefecture of 
North Borneo.

⚫ 1932 – First Resident priest in 
Brunei (Fr A. Stotter)



1936 - Celebrating Christmas at the Kuala Be-

lait R.C. School/Church

Fr. A. Stotter (6th from left) served in Kuala 

Belait from 1930 to 1936
December 1935 - Staff and students in front of 

the wooden R.C. School/Church in K.B.

Group photo beside school/church building. 

Seated from left - Fr. A. Crowther

circa 1940 - Students of the Kuala Belait Roman Catholic School.

1929 - 1940

A Roman Catholic Mission was set up in Kuala Belait. The site of the Church/School was located 

in between the present Chung Hwa  Middle School and the Foo Chow Association.  There was no 

permanent priest assigned to the Kuala Mission. Priests form the neighbouring Missions visited 

periodically.

1939/1940 - The Rectory built by Fr. 

Crowther

Fr. Piet de Wit with R.C School children in Brunei 

Town (probably 1941). 

1941 to 1945 - All foreign missionaries were interned by the Japanese forces during World 

War Two. The Church and Rectory were used by the Japanese soldiers but were left in 

disrepair. A number of the faithful looked after the church as best they could. 

Fr. A. Crowther and Fr. Piet de Wit return to Brunei in 1945 and 1947 respectively. Fr. de 

Wit was appointed the Rector for Kuala Belait/Seria Mission and he set up the Seria 

English school by arrangement with the British Malayan Petroleum (now Brunei Shell 

Petroleum) Company.  Fr. Crowther was placed in charge of the Mission/School for the 

State of Brunei.

1941 - 1949

1949 - Fr. McCarthy was appointed as Rector for Kuala Belait/Seria Mission.
Group photo beside school/church building. Seated from 

left - Fr. Crowther, Msgr. Wachter and Bro. Agadius.



Sr. Mary Agnes (Alice Liew) – 1936

Alice Liew was educated at the Convent in Labuan 

and became a Carmelite nun – first Bruneian to 

enter a religious order

1936 – Kuala Belait was 

made a head station – Fr. 

Crowther, MHM appointed 

the first resident priest in KB
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⚫ 1937 - Fr. Piet de Wit was appointed to assist Fr. Crowther. Fr. Piet 

started the first Catholic school in a rented house owned by Mr. Kay in 

Jalan Padang.
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⚫ 1952 – Brunei became part of the Apostolic Vicariate of Kuching.

⚫ 1953 – Fr. Herman Plattner officially open the church in Kuala Belait.

⚫ 1957 – Seria became the head station.

1950 - 1954

The Kuala Belait R.C Church, officially opened 

Christmas 1953 during the time of Fr. Herman Plat-

tner (top left), was later named St. John’s.

November 1954 - Kuala Belait R.C Church officially 

named St. John’s and the yet to be built Seria R.C 

Church named, Church of Our Lady. 

Artist Impression of the New Seria English School.

1954 - The Seria English School was officially named St. Michael’s School.

1952 - Fr. Leo Barry took 

over as Rector Kuala Belait 

and Seria Missions.

1950 - Fr. Gerard Rottinghuis ap-

pointed Principal of Kuala Belait 

and Seria English Schools.

1954 - Fr. John Maher joined 

the Seria English School as 

member of teaching staff and 

as assistant to the Rector. and 

Seria Missions.



1952
1951 – Fr. Ben Walsh with the FHC candidates



Early 1950’s – First Holy Communion party in Seria.

Msgr Buis, Fr. Barry, 

Fr. Walsh and Fr. Smit - 1952
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November 1955 - Church of Our Lady, Seria under 

construction.

1955 - 1956

July 1955 - Official Opening of St. Michael’s 

School, Seria by British High Commissioner, 

Sir Anthony Abell.

June 1955 - Monseigner Vos, Vicar Apostolic of Kuching 

laid foundation stone for the Church of Our Lady, Seria.

July 1956 - Church of  Our Lady, Seria  nearing 

completion.

1955. Official opening of St 

Michael’s School, Seria by British 

High Commissioner, Sir Anthony 

Abell



November 1955 - Church of Our Lady, Seria under 

construction.

1955 - 1956

July 1955 - Official Opening of St. Michael’s 

School, Seria by British High Commissioner, 

Sir Anthony Abell.

June 1955 - Monseigner Vos, Vicar Apostolic of Kuching 

laid foundation stone for the Church of Our Lady, Seria.

July 1956 - Church of  Our Lady, Seria  nearing 

completion.

June 19th, 1955 – 

Monsignor Vos, Vicar 

Apostolic of Kuching laid 

foundation for the Church 

of Our Lady, Seria



1954 - Aerial 

view of K.B. 

Town showing St. 

John’s Church 

(circled top left in 

picture).

1954 - 1956

28th July, 1956 - Church of Our Lady, Seria blessed 

and opened by Monseigneur Vos, Vicar Apostolic of 

Kuching.

November, 1955 

- Student’s of St. 

Michael’s 

School Seria bid 

farewell to Fr. 

G. Rottinghuis.

Franciscan Nuns, Mother Tar-

cisus and Sister Joseph visited 

Seria to discuss future of edu-

cation for Catholic girls.
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1956 – The Convent in Seria was set up by the 
Sisters of St. Joseph.



The opening of the 

new church, St. 

George’s Church by 

Bishop John Vos on 

Easter Sunday April 

22nd 1957



January 1959 - St. Angela’s 

Convent School for girls to 

open.

18th December 1957 - St. Angela’s 

Convent officially opened.  School for 

girls planned.

Fr. Van de Laar with St. John’s School

 children

 Seated: Bishop Anthony Galvin (L) and Fr. 

Van de Laar (R), with St. John’s teachers.

January 1957 - Fr. John Van de Laar appointed Rector and Principal of St. John’s Church and 

School.

1957 - 1959

January 1959 - St. Angela’s Convent School for girls officially opened by the British 

Resident, Mr. D.C. White.



⚫ 1959 – Brunei became part of 
the Apostolic Vicariate of 
Miri (19th December)

⚫ After the Vicariate of Miri was 
established and, in the following 
year, Father Anthony Denis 
Galvin (who was a Mill Hill 
Father himself) was consecrated 
the first bishop of the Miri 
Vicariate. He was ordained 
by Pope John XXIII in Rome on 
5 May 1960.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pope_John_XXIII


Students in class at St. John’s School.

May 1966 - St. John’s School (West Wing) opened by Bishop 

Anthony Galvin (above, above right and right) .

(Below) New St. John’s School West Wing.

1960 - 1970

Jan, Feb 1967 - Fr. Michael Gill 

and Fr. H. Brentjens appointed to 

serve in Kuala Belait and Seria 

missions.   
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Opening of St John’s School, Kuala Belait by 

Bishop Antony Galvin on May 1966 
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Fr. Michael Gill MHM and Fr H. 

Brentjens MHM appointed to 

teach on St John’s School, Kuala 

Belait and St. Michael’s School, 

Seria

1967
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March 1967 - Rev. Mother Eamonn (above centre), Mother-General 

of the Franciscan Missionaries of St. Joseph’s, visited St. Angela’s 

Convent School.  School choir (left) performing at concert pre-

sented for the Mother-General.

1960 - 1970

December 1966 - Supe-

rior General of Mill Hill 

missionaries, Fr. G. Ma-

hon visited Borneo. Pic-

tured above with Fr. Van 

de Laar outside St. John’s 

School.

May 1967 - Bishop Galvin minis-

tering Sacrament of Confirmation 

in Seria, assisted by Fr. M. Gill 

(L) and Fr. T. Keogan (R). Mrs. 

Theresa Carrier (L) was sponsor 

for all the women and girls.

March 1967 - Rev. Mother Eamonn (above centre), Mother-General 
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Convent School.  School choir (left) performing at concert pre-

sented for the Mother-General.
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rior General of Mill Hill 

missionaries, Fr. G. Ma-

hon visited Borneo. Pic-

tured above with Fr. Van 

de Laar outside St. John’s 

School.

May 1967 - Bishop Galvin minis-

tering Sacrament of Confirmation 

in Seria, assisted by Fr. M. Gill 

(L) and Fr. T. Keogan (R). Mrs. 

Theresa Carrier (L) was sponsor 

for all the women and girls.

11/3/1967 Rev. Mother Eamonn, 

Mother-General of the Franciscan 

Missionaries of St Joseph, visited St. 

Angela’s Convent School in Seria



July 1970 - Before his de-

parture from Brunei, Fr. Leo 

Barry celebrated the 40th 

Anniversary of his priestly 

ordination. The occasion 

was held at the Church of 

our Lady, Seria.  Fr. Barry 

was one of the longest serv-

ing missionaries in Borneo.

November 1968 -  Fr. John Van de Laar 

departed from Brunei after serving for 38 

years in Borneo.  Fr. Peter Chung, now 

Archbishop of Kuching, took over as rector 

of St. John’s. 

February 1968 - Fr. Vincent Cahill arrived from Miri to become 

principal of St. John’s School. Pictured above is Fr. Cahill 

(centre left) with Fr. Van de Laar (centre right) and St. John’s 

School teachers. 

Feb 1968 - Fr. Van de Laar 

returned to Kuala Belait after 

6 months’ leave to the Nether-

lands, during which he under-

went an eye operation. 

January 1966 - Bro. Anthony Lee was ordained to the priesthood by the Vicar Apostolic, Rt. 

Rev. Anthony Galvin, at St. Joseph’s Church in Miri.  Bro. Anthony was the first boy from 

the Miri Vicariate to become a Roman Catholic priest. Top right - Pictured with his family 

after his ordination.

1960 - 1970
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Bishop Galvin officiating at 

the opening ceremony of the 

new Church of Our Lady of the 

Assumption in August 1969



Church of Our Lady of the 

Assumption, Bandar Seri Begawan



January 1970 - The first person to be ordained to the priesthood in 

Brunei was Bro. Peter Tann. The ordination was ministered by Bishop 

Anthony Galvin at the Church of Our Lady in Seria.

1970 - (Top) Bishop Anthony Galvin blesses the site 

for the new St. John’s church.

- (Right)  Bishop Galvin assisted by Fr. Peter Chung 

during blessing of site for new church.

1960 - 1970

Fr. Paul Tong with first Holy Communi-

cants. 

The first Parish Council of St. John’s, 

pictured with Bishop A. Galvin and Fr. 

Peter Chung, celebrating Bishop Galvin’s 

25th Anniversary

October 1970 - (left) Fr. Chung’s 

farewell at St. John’s.

November 1970 - (above) Fr. Chung’s 

episcopal consecration as Co-

adjutor-Bishop, conducted in Kota 

Kinabalu, by Bishop James Buis of 

Sabah and Bishop Yong of Penang.  

Fr. Paul Tong succeeded Fr. Chung 

as Rector of St. John’s. 

1970 – Fr. Paul Tong with First Holy Communicants



January 1970 - The first person to be ordained to the priesthood in 

Brunei was Bro. Peter Tann. The ordination was ministered by Bishop 

Anthony Galvin at the Church of Our Lady in Seria.

1970 - (Top) Bishop Anthony Galvin blesses the site 

for the new St. John’s church.

- (Right)  Bishop Galvin assisted by Fr. Peter Chung 

during blessing of site for new church.

1960 - 1970

Fr. Paul Tong with first Holy Communi-

cants. 

The first Parish Council of St. John’s, 

pictured with Bishop A. Galvin and Fr. 

Peter Chung, celebrating Bishop Galvin’s 

25th Anniversary

October 1970 - (left) Fr. Chung’s 

farewell at St. John’s.

November 1970 - (above) Fr. Chung’s 

episcopal consecration as Co-

adjutor-Bishop, conducted in Kota 

Kinabalu, by Bishop James Buis of 

Sabah and Bishop Yong of Penang.  

Fr. Paul Tong succeeded Fr. Chung 

as Rector of St. John’s. 



12th March, 1972 - The new St. John’s Church 

was blessed and officially opened by Bishop An-

thony Galvin.

1971 - The new St. John’s Church under construction.

1971 - 1980

12th March, 1972 - The new St. John’s Church 

was blessed and officially opened by Bishop An-

thony Galvin.

1971 - The new St. John’s Church under construction.

1971 - 1980

12 March 1972 – The new St 

John’s Church was blessed and 

officially opened by Bishop 

Anthony Galvin



Fr. Tong with 

First Holy 

Communicants.

Recognise any-

one?

1980 - Bishop Anthony Lee with Fr. 

Tong conferring sacrament of confir-

mation at St. John’s.

June 1973 - Bishop Van C. Melkebeke 

(Apostolic Visitor) with Fr. Tong and Fr. 

Peter Chiang after conferring sacrament of 

confirmation at St. John’s. 

1971 - 1985

1972 - (Above) The newly completed St. John’s 

Church.  (Right) Fr. Paul Tong pictured outside 

newly completed church.

05th June, 1983 - Fr. Tong celebrated 25 

years of priesthood.

circa 1979 - First Holy Communion 

in front of the school.

22nd Oct, 1978 - St. 

John’s School East 

Wing officially opened 

by Bishop Anthony 

Lee.



Fr. Tong with 

First Holy 

Communicants.

Recognise any-

one?

1980 - Bishop Anthony Lee with Fr. 

Tong conferring sacrament of confir-

mation at St. John’s.

June 1973 - Bishop Van C. Melkebeke 

(Apostolic Visitor) with Fr. Tong and Fr. 

Peter Chiang after conferring sacrament of 

confirmation at St. John’s. 

1971 - 1985

1972 - (Above) The newly completed St. John’s 

Church.  (Right) Fr. Paul Tong pictured outside 

newly completed church.

05th June, 1983 - Fr. Tong celebrated 25 

years of priesthood.

circa 1979 - First Holy Communion 

in front of the school.

22nd Oct, 1978 - St. 

John’s School East 

Wing officially opened 

by Bishop Anthony 

Lee.

Fr. Tong with 

First Holy 

Communicants.

Recognise any-

one?

1980 - Bishop Anthony Lee with Fr. 

Tong conferring sacrament of confir-

mation at St. John’s.

June 1973 - Bishop Van C. Melkebeke 

(Apostolic Visitor) with Fr. Tong and Fr. 

Peter Chiang after conferring sacrament of 

confirmation at St. John’s. 

1971 - 1985

1972 - (Above) The newly completed St. John’s 

Church.  (Right) Fr. Paul Tong pictured outside 

newly completed church.

05th June, 1983 - Fr. Tong celebrated 25 

years of priesthood.

circa 1979 - First Holy Communion 

in front of the school.

22nd Oct, 1978 - St. 

John’s School East 

Wing officially opened 

by Bishop Anthony 

Lee.



Milestones in the Brunei church history - continue

⚫ 1976 – Brunei became part of the Diocese of 

Miri-Brunei

⚫ 1985 – Fr. Ivan Fang ordained by Bishop 

Cornelio de Wit at St. Joseph College, Mill Hill, 

London 30th November 1985 

⚫ 1989 – Fr. Cornelius Sim was ordained by 

Bishop Anthony Lee in Seria

⚫ 1991 – Departure* of Fr. Chiang and Fr. 

McClorey



(Above) Fr. Cornelius blessing the faithful who 

attended his ordination. (Right) Pictured with 

family members after his ordination.

Nov 1989 - Bro. Cor-

nelius ordained by 

Bishop Lee (left). 

Fr. Cornelius after 

his priestly ordina-

tion (right).

1986 - 1991

 March, 1987 - Fr. Paul Tong departed from Brunei after serving as the rector of St. John’s for 

almost seventeen years. In the absence of a resident priest, the church appointed two lay 

persons, Bros. Richard Fun and Lawrence Carrier, to serve in some of the work of the 

ministerial priesthood.  In addition Bro. David Teo was entrusted by Fr. John McClorey, the 

parish priest of Seria, with the pastoral aspect of the church.

1988 - Bro. Cornelius Sim was assigned to administer St. John’s Parish on completion of his 

priestly training in the United States. He was ordained a Deacon at St. John’s by Bishop 

Anthony Lee on 31st May, 1989. On 26th November, 1989,  Bro. Sim was ordained a priest 

Bishop Lee at the Church of Our Lady, Seria. 

1990 - The faith-

ful bid farewell to 

Fr. Chiang at 

Brunei airport. 

 By the end of February 1991, the remaining priests, Fr. Peter Chiang and Fr. John McClorey, 

departed from Brunei. Fr. Cornelius was left to minister to the three parishes of Seria, K.B and 

Bandar, until Fr. Ivan Fang returned to serve in Bandar in December 1992.

31st May, 1989 - Bro. Cornelius Sim was ordained a Deacon by Bishop Lee (above 

right) at St. John’s.  Pictured with Fr. Chiang and Fr. McClorey (above left).

26th Nov, 1989 - Bishop Lee ordained Bro. Cornelius a Priest (above left) at Church of 

Our Lady, Seria.  Bishop Lee together with Fr. Chiang, Fr. McClorey and other visiting 

priests, praying over Bro. Cornelius during his ordination (above right).

26/11/1989 - Fr. Cornelius 

Sim was ordained by Bishop 

Anthony Lee in Seria



(Above) Fr. Cornelius blessing the faithful who 

attended his ordination. (Right) Pictured with 

family members after his ordination.

Nov 1989 - Bro. Cor-

nelius ordained by 

Bishop Lee (left). 

Fr. Cornelius after 

his priestly ordina-

tion (right).

1986 - 1991

 March, 1987 - Fr. Paul Tong departed from Brunei after serving as the rector of St. John’s for 

almost seventeen years. In the absence of a resident priest, the church appointed two lay 

persons, Bros. Richard Fun and Lawrence Carrier, to serve in some of the work of the 

ministerial priesthood.  In addition Bro. David Teo was entrusted by Fr. John McClorey, the 

parish priest of Seria, with the pastoral aspect of the church.

1988 - Bro. Cornelius Sim was assigned to administer St. John’s Parish on completion of his 

priestly training in the United States. He was ordained a Deacon at St. John’s by Bishop 

Anthony Lee on 31st May, 1989. On 26th November, 1989,  Bro. Sim was ordained a priest 

Bishop Lee at the Church of Our Lady, Seria. 

1990 - The faith-

ful bid farewell to 

Fr. Chiang at 

Brunei airport. 

 By the end of February 1991, the remaining priests, Fr. Peter Chiang and Fr. John McClorey, 

departed from Brunei. Fr. Cornelius was left to minister to the three parishes of Seria, K.B and 

Bandar, until Fr. Ivan Fang returned to serve in Bandar in December 1992.

31st May, 1989 - Bro. Cornelius Sim was ordained a Deacon by Bishop Lee (above 

right) at St. John’s.  Pictured with Fr. Chiang and Fr. McClorey (above left).

26th Nov, 1989 - Bishop Lee ordained Bro. Cornelius a Priest (above left) at Church of 

Our Lady, Seria.  Bishop Lee together with Fr. Chiang, Fr. McClorey and other visiting 

priests, praying over Bro. Cornelius during his ordination (above right).



⚫ 1991 – Last remaining 

foreign Catholic nuns, Sr. 

Celestine Ho, principal of 

St. Angela’s Girls School 

in Seria and Sr Eamonn 

Chan, a teacher at the 

same school, return to 

Malaysia on Feb 18 and 

Feb 24 respectively.



1997 -1998

HOT OFF THE PRESS!! 

With effect from 06th December, 1997, the Holy See appointed a new Apostolic Prefecture 

in Brunei Darussalam, with Rt. Rev. Monsignor Cornelius Sim as the first Apostolic Prefect.

⚫ 1997 – Establishment of the 
Apostolic Prefecture of Brunei 
Darussalam on 21st November

⚫ 1998 – Msgr. Cornelius Sim 
was installed as Apostolic 
Prefect of Brunei Darussalam 
on 23rd February



Ordination of Fr. Paul Shie – 16/8/1999



Ordination of Fr. Robert 
10/8/2003 



Apostolic Vicariate Established in Brunei

VATICAN CITY, OCT. 20, 2004 (Zenit.org).- John Paul II 

established the Apostolic Vicariate of Brunei and 

appointed as its first bishop, Cornelius Sim, a U.S.-

educated cleric who's been apostolic prefect in the 

Southeast Asian sultanate. 

The Pope established the Apostolic Prefecture of Brunei 

in 1997. The vicariate encompasses the sultanate's 

territory that has some 347,000 inhabitants, the Vatican 

press office said in its announcement. 

http://www.zenit.org/


Ordination of Bishop Cornelius Sim January 21, 2005 



Saddest Moment for our Catholic School

⚫ 2006 – St. Michael School 

closes at the end of December 

2006

⚫ 2007 – St. Angela’s School 

became co-ed beginning 

January 2007



Ordination of Rev. Arin Augustine Sugit on 
December 8, 2008



25th October 
2020



RIP







Vicariate Sacramental Statistics for 2024







2022 = 2038, 2023 = 2033

1419

213

114 110
74 56
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